A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in granting the Appellees' Motion for

Summary Judgment and dismissing the Appellant' s Counterclaim. 

B. ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Does RCW 58. 17. 210 entitle a purchaser of real property to

statutory rescission where the seller sold property to the purchaser

in violation of RCW Chapter 58. 17 and, after the sale, the seller

corrected the illegal subdivision? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2004, the Appellees sold an illegally subdivided lot to the

Appellant in violation of RCW Chapter 58. 17. The Appellees have

not denied their illegal conduct. Appellees answered Defendant' s

Counterclaim as follows: 

Plaintiffs admit that they sold to the

defendant real property that had not been
subdivided pursuant to RCW Chapter 58. 17

and Cowlitz County Code 18. 34. 

Cowlitz County CP 75; P. 1, Lines 18 -21. 

Appellees filed a Complaint requesting an injunction. 

Specifically, Appellees requested the court to order the Appellant to
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participate in the Appellees' application to correct the illegally

subdivided property. However, the Appellant declined. Therefore, 

the trial court ordered that the application could be submitted to the

county without the Appellant' s participation. Summary Judgment

was entered in favor of the Appellees relating to the request for the

injunction. Cowlitz County CP 20; P2, Lines 1 - 13. 

The Appellant appealed. Division I affirmed the trial court' s

decision. As part of the ruling, Division I stated as follows: 

When an owner of property subdivides it illegally and
sells a parcel, both seller and purchaser have a

statutory duty to conform the property to the

subdivision laws. The aggrieved purchaser may elect
either to rescind or to recover damages, but when the

purchaser obstructs the seller's efforts to conform the

property by insisting on conditions not required by
law, a trial court does not err by entering an injunction
in favor of the seller allowing the compliance process
to proceed. 

Hoggatt v. Flores, 152 Wash App. 862, 218 P. 3d 244
2009) 

On September 27, 2013, Appellees filed a Motion for

Summary Judgment requesting the Clark
Countyl

Superior Court to

1 Appellant' s counterclaim was filed in Cowlitz County in June of 2008. After that, nine trial
dates were scheduled over the course of five years. The first trial date in 2009 was cancelled

by the court due to the Appeal of the injunction. Thereafter, the Appellees requested and were
granted a continuance of the January 18, 2011 trial date. Six trial dates were bumped by the
Cowlitz County Superior Court due to court congestion. The November 2013 Clark County trial
date was stricken as a result of Summary Judgment. Defendant requested a change of venue
to Clark County because of the inability of Cowlitz County to try the case. His request was
granted. Cowlitz County CP 164; P1, L. 16 -25; P. 2, L. 1 - 5. 
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dismiss the Appellant' s Counterclaim. Clark County CP 7. The

Appellant' s Counterclaim, filed on June 23, 2008, states as follows: 

As and for a counterclaim, defendant alleges that

plaintiffs sold property to him in violation of the

provisions of RCW Chapter 58. 17 and other

regulations of Cowlitz County. As a result, defendant

reserves the right to seek all relief allowed by RCW
58. 17. 210 to include rescission, damages in amounts

to be proven at time of trial, and reasonable attorney' s
fees. 

WHEREFORE, defendant prays plaintiffs take nothing

by their complaint; that he be awarded relief sought
pursuant to RCW Chapter 58. 17; and that the Court

grant such other and further relief as may be allowed
by law. 

Cowlitz County CP 6; P. 2, Lines 1 - 9. 

On November 15, 2013, the Clark County Superior

Court granted the Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment

as follows: 

Based on the above findings, IT IS ORDERED: 

1. Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment is
granted. 

2. Defendant has no right to rescind his purchase

of property from Plaintiffs based on RCW
58. 17. 210

Clark County CP 24. 
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D. ARGUMENT

1. Pursuant To RCW 58. 17. 210, The Defendant Is

Entitled to Rescission. 

The Appellant requested rescission in his June 23, 2008

counterclaim pursuant to RCW 58. 17. 210. 

RCW 58. 17. 210 states as follows: 

No building permit, septic tank permit, or other
development permit, shall be issued for any lot, 
tract, or parcel of land divided in violation of

this chapter or local regulations adopted

pursuant thereto unless the authority
authorized to issue such permit finds that the

public interest will not be adversely affected
thereby. The prohibition contained in this

section shall not apply to an innocent

purchaser for value without actual notice. All

purchasers' or transferees' property shall

comply with provisions of this chapter and each
purchaser or transferee may recover his or her
damages from any person, firm, corporation, or
agent selling or transferring land in violation of
this chapter or local regulations adopted

pursuant thereto, including any amount

reasonably spent as a result of inability to
obtain any development permit and spent to
conform to the requirements of this chapter as

well as cost of investigation, suit, and

reasonable attorneys' fees occasioned thereby. 
Such purchaser or transferee may as an

alternative to conforming his or her property to
these requirements, rescind the sale or transfer

and recover costs of investigation, suit, and

reasonable attorneys' fees occasioned thereby. 
emphasis added]. 
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The court in Busch v. Nervik, 38 Wash. App. 541, 687 P. 2d

872 ( 1984) stated in part as follows: " Rescission is an express, 

statutory remedy under RCW 58. 17." 

The court, in State v. Groom, 133 Wash 2d 679, 947 P. 2d

240 ( 1997), stated in pat as follows: 

We also note that however much members of this

court may think that a statute should be rewritten, it is
imperative that we not rewrite statutes to express

what we think the law should be. We simply have no
such authority. State v. Mollichi, 132 Wash.2d 80, 87, 
936 P. 2d 408 ( 1997); see Graham Thrift Group, Inc. 
v. Pierce Cy., Country Park, Inc., 75 Wash.App. 263, 
267, 877 P. 2d 228 ( 1994). This is true even if the

results appear unduly harsh. Geschwind v. Flanagan, 
121 Wash.2d 833, 841, 854 P. 2d 1061 ( 1993). 

Where a statute is clear on its face, its plain meaning should

be derived from the language of the statute alone." Ford Motor Co. 

v. City of Seattle, Executive Services Department, 160 Wash. 2d 32, 

156 P. 3d 185 ( 2007). 

The court in Valley Quality Homes, Inc. v. Bodie, 52 Wash. 

App 743, 763 P. 2d 840 ( 1988) stated in part as follows: 

RCW 58. 17. 210 provides for rescission when the

mandates of RCW 58. 17 are violated. [ emphasis

added] 

Similarly, the court in Gilmore v. Hershaw, 83 Wash.2d 701, 

521 P. 2d 934 ( 1974) stated in part as follows: 
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RCW 58. 17. 210 provides in part that a vendee of land
divided in violation of the chapter may, as an

alternative to conforming his property to the chapter's
requirements, rescind the sale. [ emphasis added] 

The common theme in the statute, as well as the cases that

interpret RCW 58. 17.210, is that it is the violation that triggers

remedies available to the purchaser and also criminal

consequences to the seller under RCW 58. 17. 300. Just as the

seller correcting the violation, after the fact, would not prevent the

imposition of criminal penalties, correcting an illegal subdivision, 

after the fact, would not prevent or block an innocent purchaser's

statutory remedies. The statute clearly gives the purchaser the

option to rescind once the violation has occurred. There is no

provision in the statute that would cancel the purchaser's right to

rescind after the fact of the violation. 

The court of appeals, in this case, stated in part: 

When an owner of property subdivides it illegally and
sells a parcel, both seller and purchaser have a

statutory duty to conform the property to the

subdivision laws. The aggrieved purchaser my elect

either to rescind or to recover damages, but when the

purchaser obstructs the seller's efforts to conform the

property by insisting on conditions not required by
law, a trial court does not error by entering an
injunction in favor of the seller allowing the

compliance process to proceed. [ emphasis added] 
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Hoggatt v. Flores, 152 Wn App 862, 864 P. 3d 244

2009). 

University of Washington Law Professor, William B. 

Stoebuck, in his Washington Practice Volume on Real Estate, 

comments on RCW 58. 17. 210 in part as follows: 

The section applies to both ` long' and short

subdivisions, since both are governed by `this chapter' 
and by `local regulations.' 

Purchasers or transferees of illegally divided land are
permitted certain forms of damages under RCWA 58. 

17. 210. In the alternative, they are permitted to
rescind the sale or transfer and recover costs of

investigation, suit, and reasonable attorneys' fees

occasioned thereby.' A court of appeals decision

interprets this last provision to incorporate all the
usual elements of ` common law' ( equitable) 

rescission, augmented by the special costs the statute
lists. Transferors upon an earnest money agreement
to sell illegally platted land are not, however allowed
to rescind; the statute allows the purchaser, not the

vendor, to rescind. The state supreme court has held

that a purchaser who wishes to go ahead with an

earnest money agreement to purchase illegally
platted land may have specific performance against
the vendor. [emphasis added] 

William B. Stoebuck, Wash. Prac., Real Estate § 5. 8 ( 2d ed) 

Professor Stoebuck' s writing supports the premise that the

remedies available under RCW 58. 17. 210 are one -way, i. e., in

favor of the purchaser and not the seller. 
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There is nothing found in any statute, case or treatise that

would allow a seller to escape the consequences of RCW

58. 17. 210, after the seller has violated the statute. 

There are numerous provisions in the law where the

legislature, or Congress, has imposed both criminal and civil

consequences for illegal conduct. For example, the IRS code

imposes civil penalties and criminal penalties for failure to file

necessary tax returns. 26 U. S. C. § 7203; 6651 ( a) ( 1). Filing a

return, late, after a violation, does not excuse the violator from

either civil or criminal consequences. 

As with taxes, land use and development laws are serious

and important to maintain an orderly society. Consequences for

violations can be harsh and unforgiving. 

A recent decision rendered by the Court, in Newport Yacht

Basin Association of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, 

Inc., 168 Wash.App. 56, 277 P. 3d 18 ( 2012) states in part as

follows: 

Moreover, the trial court' s ultimate conclusion — that a

deed issued in violation of the provisions of chapter

58. 17 RCW is unenforceable — is irreconcilable with

that statutory scheme. Although RCW 58. 17. 210

provides that certain permits may not be issued on
illegally subdivided property, this section exempts an
innocent purchaser from these consequences, 
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indicating that at minimum, such purchases are

permissible. Furthermore, this section stipulates that

any purchaser — innocent or not — may recover

damages incurred as a result of buying land that has
been subdivided in violation of either state or local
regulations. RCW 58. 17. 210. Alternatively, the

purchaser may choose to " rescind the sale or transfer
and recover costs ... occasioned thereby ". RCW

58. 17. 210. A statutory scheme that leaves the choice
of remedies to the discretion of the purchaser clearly
contemplates that illegally subdivided land may be
bought and sold. Moreover, if, as the trial court

determined, such transfers could be voided at the

request of a third party, the purchaser would be

deprived of these statutory remedies. Such an

outcome would undermine the legislature' s statutory

scheme governing the regulation of subdivisions. 

The legislature' s determination that a purchaser may

elect a remedy in an action against the seller of
illegally subdivided land is irreconcilable with the trial
court' s determination that the deed was — as a matter

of law — unenforceable. The court erred by
determining that, because the quitclaim deed resulted
in an illegal subdivision, the deed could not be

enforced. [ emphasis added]. 

Regarding the purpose of RCW 58. 17. 210, the Supreme

Court in Sienkiewicz v. Smith, 97 Wash. 2d 711, 649 P. 2d 112

1982) stated as follows: 

Essentially, the thrust of Laws of 1969, 
1st

Ex.Sess., 

ch. 271, s 20 and Laws of 1974, 
1st

Ex.Sess., ch. 134, 

s 10 is the protection of the public at large and
innocent purchasers for value against violations of the

platting statute. The remedies are limited to

rescission or damages, although the prosecuting

attorney may seek injunctive relief on behalf of the
public. Those who are knowingly in violation of the
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effective platting and subdivision statutes may not

avail themselves of the remedies accorded by the
latter two sections. These two sections do not

address the precise issue with which we are here

concerned; that is, whether a purchaser may

specifically enforce an earnest money agreement

which is in violation of the platting and subdivision
statutes. [ emphasis added] 

Remedial statutes are construed liberally in favor of the

persons aimed to be protected. Carlsen v. Global Client Solutions, 

LLC, 171 Wash. 2d 486, 256 P. 3d 321 ( 2011) ( remedial statute

enacted to stem debt adjustment industry deceptive practices

should be construed liberally in favor of consumers); Prezant

Associates, Inc. v. Washington State Department of Labor & 

Industries, 141 Wash. App. 1, 165 P. 3d 12 ( 2007) (WISHA and its

regulations are remedial and therefore liberally construed to carry

out the purpose of protecting workers). 

In the present case, it is uncontested that the Appellees sold

the Appellant an illegal lot in 2004. The Appellant was an innocent

purchaser. The Appellees concede this. Clark County CP 8, P 11, 

L 15 -26. Since filing the counterclaim, the Appellant has

maintained that he is entitled to rescission under RCW 58. 17. 210. 

The court in Sienkiewicz states that the broad purpose of

RCW Chapter 58. 17 is for "the protection of the public at large and
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innocent purchasers for value against violations of the platting

statute." [emphasis added]. It is undisputed that the Defendant is

an innocent purchaser for value. RCW 58. 17. 210 provides

remedies to the purchaser and is therefore a remedial statute. 

Because it is a remedial statute, RCW 58. 17. 210 should be

construed liberally to protect Mr. Flores, the innocent purchaser of

an illegal lot. 

The recent Newport Yacht Basin Association of

Condominium Owners case makes it clear that RCW 58. 17. 210 is

a statutory scheme that leaves the choices of remedies to the

discretion of the purchaser ... ". In that case, the court reversed the

trial court in its determination, in part, because the trial court' s

determination would have deprived a purchaser of statutory

remedies under RCW 58. 17. 210. " Such an outcome would

undermine the legislature' s statutory scheme governing the

regulation of subdivisions." The court stated, "The legislature' s

determination that a purchaser may elect a remedy in an action

against the seller of illegally subdivided land is irreconcilable with

the trial court' s determination that the deed was unenforceable." 

In summation, RCW 58. 17. 210 clearly gives the Appellant

the right to rescind the transaction with the Appellees. Nowhere in
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the language of the statute does it give the court discretion to deny

rescission under the statute where the seller corrects the illegal lot

after the fact. As stated in the recent Newport Yacht Basin

Association of Condominium Owners case, the statute leaves the

choice of remedies to the discretion of the purchaser ... ". Reading

the statute any other way would be error. 

2. The Appellant Has Requested Statutory Rescission
In His Counterclaim Based Upon RCW 58. 17. 210. 

The Defendant's claim for rescission is statutory, based

upon RCW 58. 17. 210. It is the legislature that has given the

innocent purchaser the right to rescission not the court, or common

law. The rescission remedy is made available by the legislature, 

and not equity. See Busch v. Nervik, 38 Wash. App. 541, 687 P. 2d

872 ( 1984). It is correct that equitable principals may be utilized to

supplement the statutory rescission remedy. Id. However, there is

no authority that the Appellant must prove any more than violation

of RCW 58. 17. 210 to be entitled to rescission. Simply put, the

Appellant must only show that he was sold an illegal lot, in violation

of RCW Chapter 58. 17. The Appellees have admitted this. 
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E. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the Appellant requests that this

court reverse the trial court' s grant of Summary Judgment.