Court of Appeals No. 45589-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

BRADLEY C. HOGGATT and CONNIE HOGGATT, husband and wife,

Respondents,

v.

LUIS A. FLORES,

Appellant¹

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

BRADLEY W. ANDERSEN, WSBA No. 20640°
ROY D. PYATT, WSBA No. 40956
LANDERHOLM, P.S.
805 Broadway Street, Suite 1000
P.O. Box 1086
Vancouver, WA 98666-1086
(360) 696-3312
Of Attorneys for Respondents Hoggatt

¹ Respondents have maintained the case title consistent with the pleadings in the trial court pursuant to RAP 3.4. Compliance with the court rule is the sole reason for the difference in the case title between Respondents' Brief and Appellant's Brief.

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

1. The statute requires that an illegal parcel either be made legal, or the buyer, as an alternative remedy, may rescind the transaction.

The meaning of RCW 58.17.210 is plain,³⁴ remedial³⁵ and clearly designed to promote the effective and legal use of land. In addition to requiring the buyer and/or seller to make the parcel legal, the statute allows purchasers *the option* to either obtain damages or, if the lot cannot be made legal—or the purchaser prefers not to go through the process to make the lot legal—to rescind the transaction.³⁶

Despite the Appellant's attempt to argue otherwise, the statute is remedial and not punitive.³⁷ The purpose is to ensure that lots comply with the platting laws.³⁸

³⁴ In analyzing a statute, the Court must give meaning to each of the words used. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 (2005) ("[E]ach word of a statute is to be accorded meaning."); *see also City of Seattle v. St. John*, 166 Wn.2d 941, 945, 215 P.3d 194 (2009) (stating that the court's primary goal in interpreting a statute is to give effect to the legislature's intent). Washington courts presume the legislature used no meaningless or superfluous words, and interpret a statute in a manner that gives effect to all of the words used. *Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d at 624. Courts will not add words where the legislature has chosen to exclude them. *Clark County Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 v. Dep't of Revenue*, 153 Wn. App. 737, 747, 222 P.3d 1232 (2009) ("In other words, if a statute specifically designates the things on which it operates, we infer the legislature intended all omissions."). "Where the statute's meaning is plain and unambiguous, we derive legislative intent from the plain language of the statute." *Seattle*, 166 Wn.2d at 945.

³⁵ See RCW 58.17.010.

³⁶ See Crown Cascade v. O'Neal, 100 Wn.2d 256, 259-62, 668 P.2d 585 (1983).

³⁷ Remedial statues typically afford a remedy, or better a remedy already in existence. *Bayless v. Community College Dist. No. XIX*, 84 Wn. App. 309, 312, 927 P.2d 254 (1996). Punitive statutes, on the other hand, are typically criminal statutes, or civil statutes so punitive in nature that a civil label, alone, will not be dispositive. *See State v. Schmidt*, 100 Wn. App. 297, 300 n.7, 996 P.2d 1119 (2000). Statutes that provide for treble damages or penalties, for example, would be punitive rather than remedial.

The statute's first sentence prevents the development of illegally-created parcels. But the second sentence provides an exception for "innocent purchasers for value." The third sentence then requires that "all purchasers' or transferees' property shall comply" with the law and then affords the purchaser the ability to recover any damages that he or she may have incurred in bringing the property into compliance.

As this Court noted in *Hoggatt I*, the statute, by referring to the "purchasers" or the "transferees" of property, does not limit who can or must rectify the defect. The court instead ruled that either (or ideally both) the buyer or seller have a right and the "statutory duty to conform the property to the subdivision laws."³⁹

RCW 58.17.210 then grants in the fourth sentence, "as an alternative to" bringing the property into compliance, the purchaser has the right to "rescind" the conveyance. But much to Flores' chagrin, the statute **does not** state that rescission is available **after** the property is brought into compliance with the subdivision requirements.⁴⁰

While remedial statutes are liberally construed, *Jametsky v. Olsen*, 179 Wn.2d 756, 765, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014), the liberal construction standard may not be used to expand the reach of a statute beyond what the legislature intended. *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 456, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). In other words, the court cannot turn a blind eye to the express language contained in the statute or provide a victim with a "blank check." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Vineyard*, 50 Wn. App. 888, 895, 751 P.2d 339 (1988)).

³⁸ RCW 58.17.010; RCW 58.17.210.

³⁹ Hoggatt I, 152 Wn. App. at 864.

⁴⁰ See, e.g., Clark County Pub. Util. Dist No. 1, 153 Wn. App. at 747 (stating courts do not add words where the legislature has chosen to exclude them).

As the trial court found—because the facts are not in dispute—Flores never sought rescission **until after** the property was brought into compliance. By then, he no longer had standing to seek such relief.

2. Flores suffered no harm by the conveyance of the illegal parcel.

a. The Parcel was already developed.

It is undisputed that the platting defect did not affect Flores' rights in the Property. In this case, Flores moved into and has lived in the home ever since the 2004 conveyance. He was able to borrow money to buy the Property and even was later able to refinance his home.

In addition, the Property has been legal since April 8, 2009. In fact, had Flores simply cooperated (i.e. complied with his "statutory duty", instead of trying to exploit the Hoggatt's innocent mistake, his Property would have been made legal within a very short time after the defect was discovered.

In sum, Flores got what he purchased—a home on one-acre of land.

b. Flores was an innocent purchaser.

Although there is no evidence that he was ever denied a permit or was otherwise adversely affected by the parcel's temporary platting defect, it seems clear Flores would have been protected as an "innocent

⁴¹ Hoggatt I, 152 Wn. App. at 864.

purchaser." The second sentence of RCW 58.17.210 provides a safe haven for those, such as Flores, who innocently purchase an illegally-created lot. Under this provision, an innocent purchaser for value can obtain permits and develop their property.

In short, Flores simply was unaffected by the fact that the Property was not properly subdivided.

3. Because the Parcel is now a Legal Parcel of Record, Flores has no basis to seek a rescission.

Flores seeks to rescind a sale that occurred approximately ten years ago—for Property that has been in compliance with the platting laws since April 8, 2009. Simply put, he seeks a remedy that has never been permitted by a Washington court.⁴² And there is good reason for this.

Under the statute, rescission is an "<u>alternative</u>" remedy to "<u>conforming</u> his or her property to [the subdivision] requirements." RCW 58.17.210 (emphasis added). But once the subject property complies with the law, there is no statutory basis (or standing) to seek a rescission.

As this court stated, the law permits either (or both) the buyer and seller to fix the problem of an illegal parcel:

When an owner of property subdivides it illegally and sells a parcel, **both** seller and purchaser have a statutory duty to conform the property to the subdivision laws. The aggrieved purchaser **may elect** <u>either</u> to rescind <u>or</u> to recover

⁴² After diligent research, counsel has found no Washington case permitting rescission for violation of the Washington subdivision statute <u>after</u> the property has been made to conform with RCW 58.17.

damages, but when the purchaser obstructs the seller's efforts to conform the property by insisting on conditions not required by law, a trial court does not err by entering an injunction in favor of the seller allowing the compliance process to proceed.

Hoggatt I, 152 Wn. App. at 864 (emphasis added).

Although they needed judicial intervention to overcome Flores' shenanigans, the Hoggatts fulfilled their legal obligation to make the Property legal.

So, based on the plain language of RCW 58.17.210,

Flores no longer has the right to seek rescission. He has what he purchased—a home on a properly-platted parcel.

C. Flores is not Entitled to the Equitable Relief of Rescission

Flores does not have standing to seek rescission under the statute because he did not equivocally make a demand for rescission until after the Property came into compliance with the law.

Regardless, RCW 58.17.210 does not supersede the Court's inherent equitable power to grant rescission. Even if the Court were to interpret RCW 58.17.210 as allowing rescission—five years after a platting violation is fully cured—Flores would not qualify for such an equitable remedy.

Division II of the Court of Appeals has specifically held that the statutory remedies contained in RCW 58.17.210 "simply *augment* the usual panoply of measures which flow from a purchaser's common law

right of rescission."⁴³ And in accordance with long standing case law, the trial court is in the best position to balance the equities and decide whether to grant such relief.

Merely because the right of rescission is conferred by statute does not mean the court can ignore the common law principles that govern such remedies.

The common law of rescission requires that the party promptly, unequivocally and clearly announce his intent to rescind the transaction and to act in accordance with that intent. Simply "reserving" the right to rescind, or indicating that one is "leaning" toward that option, after several years of knowing the basis for a rescission, falls well short of what the law requires.

Not only does Flores fail to satisfy the statutory requirements for rescission, he also fails to meet the common law requirements for this type of equitable remedy. 44 "Rescission" or "to rescind" is both a term of legal art to describe an action and a judicial remedy. To "rescind" a transaction means to abrogate it or annul it. 45 So while a rescission is the act of

⁴³ Nervik, 38 Wn. App. at 547.

⁴⁴The right under RCW 58.17.210 to rescind is an augmentation of the common law rules of rescission. *Nervik*, 38 Wn. App. at 547 (holding the remedies contained in RCW 58.17.210 "simply *augment* the usual panoply of measures which flow from a purchaser's common law right of rescission. We so hold."). As an equitable remedy, the court has broad discretion in shaping the relief. *See id.* at 547; *Bloor v. Fritz*, 143 Wn. App. 718, 739, 180 P.3d 805 (2008). "Equity includes the power to prevent the enforcement of a legal right, when to do so would be inequitable under the circumstances." *Mendez*, 111 Wn. App. at 460.

⁴⁵ Nervik, 38 Wn. App. at 547.

abrogating a contract, a party can also, under the right circumstances, seek the judicial remedy of rescission.⁴⁶

Had Flores timely demanded—and was ready, willing and able to perform—a rescission when he first learned of the platting defect, this lawsuit may have never occurred. Instead of being held hostage by Flores' refusal to cooperate, the Hoggatts would have been able to accept the rescission and move forward to short plat the Property without Flores' signatures. But instead of offering to rescind, Flores unsuccessfully attempted to strong-arm Hoggatts into renegotiating the terms of the conveyance by adding restrictions to their remaining property.

1. A Demand for Rescission must be Prompt, Unequivocal and the Party Claiming Rescission must not continue to benefit from use of the Property.

A party that seeks rescission must promptly, unequivocally and clearly announce this intent, and act in accordance with that intent.⁴⁷ The rescinder's conduct must also be consistent with his or her unequivocal intention to rescind:

Where a party desires to rescind upon the ground of mistake or fraud, he must, upon the discovery of the facts, at once announce his purpose and adhere to it. If he remains silent, and continues to treat the property as his own, he will be held to have waived the objection,

⁴⁶ See generally Jones v. Grove, 76 Wash. 19, 135 P. 488 (1913).

⁴⁷ Wilson v. Pearce, 57 Wn.2d 44, 53, 355 P.2d 154 (1960).

and will be conclusively bound by the contract, as if the mistake or fraud had not occurred.

Wilson, 57 Wn.2d at 53 (buyers waived their right to rescind when they failed to timely announce their intent to disaffirm the contract) quoting Coovert v. Ingwersen, 37 Wn.2d 797, 226 P.2d 187 (1951)).⁴⁸

Power v. Esarey, 37 Wn.2d 407, 224 P.2d 323 (1950) provides another example. In that case, the buyers purchased a grocery store from the sellers. The buyers sought to rescind the transaction on the basis that the sellers had misrepresented the boundary line. The court found the sellers had indeed made an honest mistake of fact in representing the boundary line. However, in determining the buyers had waived the right to rescind the sale, the trial court relied upon two key rules: (1) that "actions for rescission must be promptly commenced" and (2) the rule, as stated in 9 Am. Jur. P. 389, that:

If a person claims that a contract or conveyance was procured by fraud, he must elect to rescind promptly or he will be barred from relief upon the ground of having ratified the transaction. If he proceeds to execute the contract with knowledge that fraud has been perpetrated on him, or continues to receive benefits under the contract

⁴⁸ The Coovert case provides another example of purchasers waiving their right to rescind a transaction by continuing to take advantage of the property in their possession, using the property "as [their] own." Coovert, 37 Wn.2d at 803 (quoting 9 Am. Jur. 389, § 45). There, the Washington Supreme Court reversed the trial court's decision granting rescission because the homeowners had continued using the defective furnace "for their own benefit up to and [through] the trial of the case." *Id.* at 804. Further, the buyers' mere instruction to the seller's representative to remove the furnace was "at the very most, a notice of their desire to rescind." *Id.* (The statement itself, without something more—without actions toward the property that were consistent with rescission—did not constitute a valid rescission.) The same could be said of Flores' attempt to get the Cowlitz County Superior Court to rule he had "right" to rescind rather than asking the court to actually rescind the transaction. Clark County CP 207 L.17-19.

after he has become aware of the fraud, or if he otherwise conducts himself with respect to it as though it were a subsisting and binding engagement, he will be deemed to have affirmed and waived his right to rescind.

Id. at 411-12, 417 (emphasis added).

In *Power*, the buyers' waited two years to seek rescission. *Id.* at 412. They also continued to make payments under the contract and tried to sell the property. *Id.* The trial court found these actions, taken as a whole, acted to waive the buyers' right to rescind. *Id.* The Washington Supreme Court affirmed the trial court on appeal and adopted the waiver rule as stated in American Jurisprudence quoted above. *Id.* at 417-18.

The Washington Supreme Court in *Weir v. Sch. Dist.*, 200 Wash. 172, 180-81, 93 P.2d 308 (1939) also announced that the demand for rescission must be made with "reasonable promptness" or it will be waived. Weir continues to be cited in 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 572 (2014) as a source supporting the majority rule.

Thus, the remedy of rescission is only available if: (1) the buyer's decision to rescind is promptly made, asserted and offered to the seller, (2) the buyer unequivocally adheres to that decision, and (3) the buyer immediately ceases efforts to benefit from the property and quits treating the conveyance as a "binding engagement."

///

///

///

///

2. Flores' Actions and Statements have been anything but Prompt and Unequivocal and He has continued Using the Property for His own Benefit.

Flores' decision to rescind the transaction was anything but prompt or unequivocal. At best, he was equivocal about whether he wanted to rescind the transaction. He also continued to use the property long after he learned of the statutory grounds for rescission.

In fact, to this day, Flores has not amended his Answer (he only "reserved" the right to seek rescission)⁴⁹ and therefore has yet to unequivocally seek rescission. While he asked for a court order stating he had a "right" to rescind some three years after the Property was brought into compliance, and some five years after initially learning of the platting defect, he still has not expressly or unequivocally demanded rescission, or even offered to rescind.⁵⁰

Remember, at the critical time when the trial court was attempting to fashion the appropriate remedy, Flores represented that he was not sure whether he wanted to rescind the transaction or not. When directly asked, Flores said that his "preference" was to get the Hoggatts to agree to a covenant restricting future development of their remaining property.⁵¹

He also advised the court that while he was "*leaning* toward the remedy of rescission" he was not certain and that his decision may

⁴⁹ Cowlitz County CP 2 L. 3-5.

⁵⁰ See Clark County CP 207 L. 17-19 (seeking only a ruling he has a "right" to rescind).

⁵¹ Clark County CP 919 L. 20-24.

⁵² *Id.* P. 923 L. 3 (emphasis added).

"hinge" on the "court's willingness to follow the rules set out in *Busch v.*Nervik. . . ."⁵³ Flores added that "[h]is investigation is ongoing, however, and his point of view may change."⁵⁴

Despite being given a golden opportunity to advise the court what he wanted, Flores chose to remain equivocal, almost aloof. The trial court therefore properly found that Flores waived any right he had to seek rescission and allowed the Hoggatts to move forward to cure the defect.

Flores argues that he has consistently maintained his right to a rescission. But as pointed out above, his current statement does not match what he represented to the trial court, when it mattered most. He instead chose to "reserve" his right and to remain equivocal on what he wanted. But now, once the Hoggatts have spent time and money to bring the property into compliance, Flores wants to rescind the transaction. He simply is too late and has waived the right to seek a rescission.

a. Flores' request to rescind was neither prompt nor unequivocal.

Flores purchased the property in 2004. After being informed of the plat violation in 2007, Flores failed to give any oral or written indication

⁵³ *Id.* L. 3-4.

⁵⁴ *Id.* L. 5-6 (emphasis added).

⁵⁵ Appellant's Brief P. 10. Even if Flores had unequivocally demanded rescission at the time of filing his counterclaim on June 23, 2008—and further assuming he had unequivocally maintained such demand throughout the litigation—he may still have waived his right to timely rescind given he first learned of the illegal plat in 2007.

of his intention to rescind the sale. In fact, Flores was agreeable to sign the short plat application to make the Property a legal parcel but only if he could extract a personal benefit from the Hoggatts in the form of a restrictive covenant that was beyond the original agreement.⁵⁶

Flores never mentioned rescission at any time until filing his Answer a year after learning of the platting defect. And as quoted above, his Answer and subsequent court writings were ambiguous, equivocal, almost calculating.

"Reserving" the right to ask for rescission, and taking a wait-and-see approach ("leaning toward the remedy of rescission") while at the same time reserving the right to change his "point of view"—do not, even taken in the light most favorable to Flores, remotely constitute a "prompt or unequivocal demand to rescind." Even then, these waffling statements were not made by Flores until approximately one year after learning of the subdivision violation and at the express direction of the trial court. Flores'

Flores cites no principle of law that allows him to demand that the Hoggatts surrender valuable rights in their property in exchange for his signature on the subdivision application. . . . He may not, however, demand that the Hoggatts agree to restrict further development of their land. Allowing Flores to hold up corrective action on the subdivision until his personal demands have been met would be a violation of RCW 58.17.210"

Hoggatt I, 152 Wn. App. at 870.

⁵⁶ The Court of Appeals in *Hoggatt I* was less than impressed with respect to Flores' selfish and greedy attempt to extract significant concessions from the Hoggatts in the latters' attempt to do the right thing. The Court of Appeals stated in pertinent part:

failure to promptly and unequivocally seek rescission prevents him from seeking it now.

b. <u>The Parcel was made legal before Flores ever</u> demanded rescission.

As stated above, Cowlitz County approved the short-plat on April 8, 2009, long before the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's decision in *Hoggatt I*. By failing to seek a stay of the trial court's order, and allowing the short-plat to be recorded pending the appeal, Flores has waived his right to challenge the fact that his Property was brought into compliance with RCW 58.17.210 before he sought rescission upon remand.

c. <u>Flores has continuously used the Property in a manner to benefit himself.</u>

As set out above, a party who truly seeks rescission cannot continue to treat the property as his own or reap continued benefits from the transaction he seeks to rescind.

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